Part 219
Control of Alcohol and Drug Use

Subpart A General (Sections 219.1 - 219.23)

Subpart B Prohibitions (Sections 219.101 - 219.107)

Subpart C Post-Accident Toxicological Testing (Sections 219.201 - 219.213)
Subpart D Testing for Cause (Sections 219.300 - 219.302)

Subpart E Identification of Troubled Employees (Sections 219.401 - 219.407)
Subpart F Pre-employment Tests (Sections 219.501 - 219.505)

Subpart G Random Alcohol and Drug Testing Programs (Sections 219.601 - 219.611)
Subpart H Drug and Alcohol Testing Procedures (Sections 219.701)

Subpart I Annual Report (Sections 219.801 - 219.803)

Subpart J Recordkeeping Requirements (Sections 219.901 - 219.905)

219 App A Appendix A to Part 219 - Schedule of Civil Penalties

219 App B Appendix B to Part 219 - Designation of Laboratory for Post-Accident
Toxicological Testing

219 App C  Appendix C to Part 219 - Post-Accident Testing Specimen Collection

Authority: 49 U.S.C. 20103, 20107, 20140, 21301, 21304, 21311; 28 U.S.C. 2461, note; and 49
CFR 1.49(m).

Source: 54 FR 53259, Dec. 27, 1989, unless otherwise noted. Amended 66 FR 41969, August 09,
2001

Part 219 Subpart A

General

219.1 Purpose and scope.

219.3 Application.

219.4 Recognition of a foreign railroad's workplace testing program.
219.5 Definitions.

219.7 Waivers.

219.9 Responsibility for compliance.
219.11 General conditions for chemical tests.
219.13 Preemptive effect.

219.15 [Reserved]

219.17 Construction.

219.19 [Reserved]

219.21 Information collection.

219.23 Railroad policies.



219.4

Recognition of a foreign railroad's workplace testing program.

it

(b) Alternative programs.

(1) Upon FRA's recognition of a foreign railroad's workplace testing program as compatible with
the return-to-service requirements in subpart B and the requirements of subparts E, F, and G of
this part, the foreign railroad must comply with either the enumerated provisions of part 219 or
with the standards of the recognized program, and any imposed conditions, with respect to its
employees whose primary reporting point is outside the United States and who perform train or
dispatching service in the United States. The foreign railroad must also, with respect to its final
applicants for, or its employees seeking to transfer for the first time to, duties involving such
train or dispatching service in the United States, comply with either subpart E of this part or the
standards of the recognized program.

(2) The foreign railroad must comply with subparts A, B (other than the return-to-service
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provisions in § 219.104(d)), C, reasonable suspicion testing in subpart D, and subparts I and J.
Drug or alcohol testing required by these subparts must be conducted in compliance with all
applicable provisions of the United States Department of Transportation Procedures for
Workplace Drug and Alcohol Testing Programs (part 40 of this title).
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Note
that all petitions received will be posted without change to http://dms.dot.gov including any
personal information provided.

(f) Disposition of petitions.

(1) If FRA finds that the petition complies with the requirements of this section and that the
foreign railroad's workplace testing program is compatible with the minimum standards of this
part, the petition will be granted, normally within 90 days of its receipt. If the petition is neither
granted nor denied within 90 days, the petition remains pending for decision. FRA may attach
special conditions to the approval of any petition. Following the approval of a petition, FRA may
reopen consideration of the petition for cause.

(2) If FRA finds that the petition does not comply with the requirements of this section or that
the foreign railroad's workplace testing program is not compatible with the minimum standards
of this part, the petition will be denied, normally within 90 days of its receipt.

(3) When FRA grants or denies a petition, or reopens consideration of the petition, written notice
is sent to the petitioner and other interested parties.

Source: 69 FR 19270, April 12, 2004

219.7

Waivers.

(c) If the FRA Administrator finds that waiver of compliance is in the public interest and is
consistent with railroad safety, the Administrator may grant the waiver subject to any necessary
conditions.



[66 FR 41969, August 09, 2001; 69 FR 19270, April 12, 2004]

Part 219 Subpart E

Identification of Troubled Employees

219.401
219.403
219.405
219.407

219.401

Requirement for policies.
Voluntary referral policy.
Co-worker report policy.
Alternate policies.

Requirement for policies.

(a) The purpose of this subpart is to prevent the use of alcohol and drugs in connection with
covered service.
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(e) Nothing in this subpart may be construed to -

(1) Require payment of compensation for any period an employee is out of service under a
voluntary referral or co-worker report policy;

(2) Require a railroad to adhere to a voluntary referral or co-worker report policy in a case where
the referral or report is made for the purpose, or with the effect, of anticipating the imminent and
probable detection of a rule violation by a supervising employee; or
(3) Limit the discretion of a railroad to dismiss or otherwise discipline an employee for specific
rule violations or criminal offenses, except as specifically provided by this subpart.

[66 FR 41969, August 09, 2001]
219.403

Voluntary referral policy.

(a) Scope. This section prescribes minimum standards for voluntary referral policies. Nothing in
this section restricts a railroad from adopting, publishing and implementing a voluntary referral
policy that affords more favorable conditions to employees troubled by alcohol or drug abuse
problems, consistent with the railroad's responsibility to prevent violations of §§ 219.101 and
219.102.

(b) Required provisions. A voluntary referral policy must include the following provisions:

(1) A covered employee who is affected by an alcohol or drug use problem may maintain an
employment relationship with the railroad if, before the employee is charged with conduct
deemed by the railroad sufficient to warrant dismissal, the employee seeks assistance through the
railroad for the employee's alcohol or drug use problem or is referred for such assistance by
another employee or by a representative of the employee's collective bargaining unit. The
railroad must specify whether, and under what circumstances, its policy provides for the
acceptance of referrals from other sources, including (at the option of the railroad) supervisory
employees.

(2) Except as may be provided under paragraph (c) of this section, the railroad treats the referral
and subsequent handling, including counseling and treatment, as confidential.



(3) The railroad will, to the extent necessary for treatment and rehabilitation, grant the employee
a leave of absence from the railroad for the period necessary to complete primary treatment and
establish control over the employee's alcohol or drug problem. The policy must allow a leave of
absence of not less than 45 days, if necessary for the purpose of meeting initial treatment needs.

Approval to
return to service may not be unreasonably withheld.

(5) With respect to a certified locomotive engineer or a candidate for certification, the railroad
must meet the requirements of § 240.119(e) of this chapter.

(c) Optional provisions. A voluntary referral policy may include any of the following provisions,
at the option of the railroad:

(1) The policy may provide that the rule of confidentiality is waived if -

(i) The employee at any time refuses to cooperate in a recommended course of counseling or
treatment; and/or

(i) The employee is later determined, after investigation, to have been involved in an alcohol or
drug-related disciplinary offense growing out of subsequent conduct.

(2) The policy may require successful completion of a return-to-service medical examination as a
further condition on reinstatement in covered service.

(3) The policy may provide that it does not apply to an employee who has previously been
assisted by the railroad under a policy or program substantially consistent with this section or
who has previously elected to waive investigation under § 219.405 (co-worker report policy).

(4) The policy may provide that, in order to invoke its benefits, the employee must report to the
contact designated by the railroad either:

(i) During non-duty hours (i.e., at a time when the employee is off duty); or
(ii) While unimpaired and otherwise in compliance with the railroad's alcohol and drug rules

consistent with this subpart.
[66 FR 41969, August 09, 2001]



219.405

Co-worker report policy.

(a) Scope. This section prescribes minimum standards for co-worker report policies. Nothing in
this section restricts a railroad from adopting, publishing and implementing a policy that affords
more favorable conditions to employees troubled by alcohol or drug abuse problems, consistent
with the railroad's responsibility to prevent violations of §§ 219.101 and 219.102.

(c) General conditions and procedures.

(2) If the railroad representative determines that the employee is in violation, the railroad may
immediately remove the employee from service in accordance with its existing policies and
procedures.

(3) The employee must elect to waive investigation on the rule charge and must contact the
substance abuse professional within a reasonable period specified by the policy.

(d) When treatment is required. If the substance abuse professional determines that the employee
is affected by psychological or chemical dependence on alcohol or a drug or by another
identifiable and treatable mental or physical disorder involving the abuse of alcohol or drugs as a
primary manifestation, the following conditions and procedures apply:

(1) The railroad must, to the extent necessary for treatment and rehabilitation, grant the employee
a leave of absence from the railroad for the period necessary to complete primary treatment and
establish control over the employee's alcohol or drug problem. The policy must allow a leave of
absence of not less than 45 days, if necessary for the purpose of meeting initial treatment needs.
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(2) The employee must agree to undertake and successfully complete a course of treatment
deemed acceptable by the substance abuse professional.

(3) The railroad must promptly return the employee to service, on recommendation of the
substance abuse professional, when the employee has established control over the substance
abuse problem. Return to service may also be conditioned on successful completion of a return-
to-service medical examination. Approval to return to service may not be unreasonably withheld.

(4) Following return to service, the employee, as a further condition on withholding of discipline,
may, as necessary, be required to participate in a reasonable program of follow-up treatment for
a period not to exceed 60 months from the date the employee was originally withdrawn from
service.

(e) When treatment is not required. If the substance abuse professional determines that the
employee is not affected by an identifiable and treatable mental or physical disorder -

(1) The railroad must return the employee to service within 5 days after completion of the
evaluation.

(2) During or following the out-of-service period, the railroad may require the employee to
participate in a program of education and training concerning the effects of alcohol and drugs on
occupational or transportation safety.

(f) Follow-up tests. A railroad may conduct return-to-service and/or follow-up tests (as described
in § 219.104) of an employee who waives investigation and is determined to be ready to return to
service under this section.

[66 FR 41969, August 09, 2001]
219.407

Alternate policies.




(d) This section does not excuse a railroad from adopting, publishing and implementing the
policies required by §8 219.403 and 219.405 with respect to any group of covered employees not
within the coverage of an appropriate alternate policy.

[66 FR 41969, August 09, 2001]

Part 219 Subpart F
Pre-employment Tests

219.501 Pre-employment drug testing.
219.502 Pre-employment alcohol testing.
219.503 Notification; records.

219.505 Refusals.

219.503

Notification; records.

[59 FR 7462, Feb. 15, 1994; 66 FR 41969, August 09, 2001]

Part 219 Subpart G
Random Alcohol and Drug Testing Programs

219.601 Railroad random drug testing programs.

219.602 FRA Administrator's determination of random drug testing rate.
219.603 Participation in drug testing.

219.605 Positive drug test results; procedures.

219.607 Railroad random alcohol testing programs.

219.608 FRA Administrator's determination of random alcohol testing rate.
219.609 Participation in alcohol testing.

219.611 Test result indicating prohibited alcohol concentration; procedures.
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219.601

Railroad random drug testing programs.

219.601(b)

() --

(i) The program must select for testing a sufficient number of employees so that, during the first
12 months -

(A) The random testing program is spread reasonably through the 12-month period.
219.601(b)(2)(1)(B)
(B) [Reserved]

(ii) During the subsequent 12-month period, the program must select for testing a sufficient
number of employees so that the number of tests conducted will equal at least 50 percent of the

11



number of covered employees. Annualized percentage rates must be determined by reference to
the total number of covered employees employed by the railroad at the beginning of the
particular twelve-month period or by an alternate method specified in the plan approved by the
Associate Administrator for Safety, FRA. If the railroad conducts random testing through a
consortium, the annual rate may be calculated for each individual employer or for the total
number of covered employees subject to random testing by the consortium.

(3) Railroad random testing programs must ensure to the maximum extent practicable that each
employee perceives the possibility that a random test may be required on any day the employee
reports for work.

(5) The program must include testing procedures and safeguards, and procedures for action based
on positive test results, consistent with this part.

(6) An employee must be subject to testing only while on duty. Only employees who perform
covered service for the railroad are subject to testing under this part. In the case of employees
who during some duty tours perform covered service and during others do not, the railroad
program must specify the extent to which, and the circumstances under which they are to be
subject to testing. To the extent practical within the limitations of this part and in the context of
the railroad's operations, the railroad program must provide that employees are subject to the
possibility of random testing on any day they actually perform covered service.

(c) Approval. The Associate Administrator for Safety, FRA, will notify the railroad in writing
whether the program is approved as consistent with the criteria set forth in this part. If the
Associate Administrator for Safety determines that the program does not conform to those
criteria, the Associate Administrator for Safety will inform the railroad of any matters preventing
approval of the program, with specific explanation as to necessary revisions. The railroad must
resubmit its program with the required revisions within 30 days of such notice. Failure to
resubmit the program with the necessary revisions will be considered a failure to implement a
program under this subpart.

(d) Implementation.




. Since knowledge of Federal law is presumed,
nothing in this paragraph (d)(1) creates a defense to a violation of § 219.102.

(2) A railroad commencing operations must submit a random testing program 60 days after doing
so. The railroad must implement its approved random testing program not later than the
expiration of 60 days from approval by the Administrator.

[54 FR 53259, Dec. 27, 1989, as amended at 59 FR 7462, Feb. 15, 1994; 62 FR 63464,
December 01, 1997; 66 FR 41969, August 09, 2001]

219.602

FRA Administrator's determination of random drug testing rate.

(a) Except as provided in paragraphs (b) through (d) of this section, the minimum annual
percentage rate for random drug testing must be 50 percent of covered employees.

(c) When the minimum annual percentage rate for random drug testing is 50 percent, the
Administrator may lower this rate to 25 percent of all covered employees if the Administrator
determines that the data received under the reporting requirements of § 219.803 for two
consecutive calendar years indicate that the reported positive rate is less than 1.0 percent.

(d) When the minimum annual percentage rate for random drug testing is 25 percent, and the
data received under the reporting requirements of § 219.803 for any calendar year indicate that
the reported positive rate is equal to or greater than 1.0 percent, the Administrator will increase
the minimum annual percentage rate for random drug testing to 50 percent of all covered
employees.

(e) Selection of covered employees for testing must be made by a method employing objective,
neutral criteria which ensures that every covered employee has a substantially equal statistical
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chance of being selected within a specified time frame. The method may not permit subjective
factors to play a role in selection, i.e., no employee may be selected as a result of the exercise of
discretion by the railroad. The selection method must be capable of verification with respect to
the randomness of the selection process.

(f) The railroad must randomly select a sufficient number of covered employees for testing
during each calendar year to equal an annual rate not less than the minimum annual percentage
rate for random drug testing determined by the Administrator. If the railroad conducts random
drug testing through a consortium, the number of employees to be tested may be calculated for
each individual railroad or may be based on the total number of covered employees covered by
the consortium who are subject to random drug testing at the same minimum annual percentage
rate under this part or any DOT agency drug testing rule.

(g) Each railroad must ensure that random drug tests conducted under this part are unannounced
and that the dates for administering random tests are spread reasonably throughout the calendar
year.

(h) If a given covered employee is subject to random drug testing under the drug testing rules of
more than one DOT agency for the same railroad, the employee must be subject to random drug
testing at the percentage rate established for the calendar year by the DOT agency regulating
more than 50 percent of the employee's function.

(i) If a railroad is required to conduct random drug testing under the drug testing rules of more
than one DOT agency, the railroad may -

(1) Establish separate pools for random selection, with each pool containing the covered
employees who are subject to testing at the same required rate; or
219.602(i)(2)
(2) Randomly select such employees for testing at the highest percentage rate established for the
calendar year by any DOT agency to which the railroad is subject.

[59 FR 62228, Dec. 2, 1994; 66 FR 41969, August 09, 2001]

219.603

Participation in drug testing.

A railroad shall, under the conditions specified in this subpart and subpart H of this part, require
a covered employee selected through the random testing program to cooperate in urine testing to

determine compliance with § 219.102, and the employee must provide the required specimen and
complete the required paperwork and certifications.

[54 FR 53259, Dec. 27, 1989, as amended at 59 FR 7463, Feb. 15, 1994; 62 FR 63464,
December 01, 1997; 66 FR 41969, August 09, 2001]
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219.605

Positive drug test results; procedures.

(a) [Reserved]

(b) Procedures for administrative handling by the railroad in the event a specimen provided
under this subpart is reported as positive by the MRO are set forth in § 219.104. The responsive
action required in § 219.104 is not stayed pending the result of a retest or split specimen test.

[54 FR 53259, Dec. 27, 1989, as amended at 59 FR 7463, Feb. 15, 1994; 66 FR 41969, August
09, 2001]

219.607

Railroad random alcohol testing programs.

(b) Form of programs. Random alcohol testing programs submitted by or on behalf of each
railroad under this subpart must meet the following criteria, and the railroad and its managers,
supervisors, officials and other employees and agents must conform to such criteria in
implementing the program:

(2) The program must include testing procedures and safeguards, and, consistent with this part,
procedures for action based on tests where the employee is found to have violated § 219.101.

(3) The program must ensure that random alcohol tests conducted under this part are



unannounced and that the dates for administering random tests are spread reasonably throughout
the calendar year.

(4) The program must ensure to the maximum extent practicable that each covered employee
perceives the possibility that a random alcohol test may be required at any time the employee
reports for work and at any time during the duty tour (except any period when the employee is
expressly relieved of any responsibility for performance of covered service).

(6) Testing must be conducted promptly, as provided in § 219.701(b)(1).

(8) Each railroad must ensure that each covered employee who is notified of selection for
random alcohol testing proceeds to the test site immediately; provided, however, that if the
employee is performing a safety-sensitive function at the time of the notification, the railroad
must instead ensure that the employee ceases to perform the safety-sensitive function and
proceeds to the testing site as soon as possible.

219.607(c)

(c) Implementation.

(2) A railroad commencing operations must submit a random testing program 60 days after doing
so. The railroad must implement its approved random testing program not later than the
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expiration of 60 days from approval by the Administrator.
[59 FR 7463, Feb. 15, 1994; 66 FR 41969, August 09, 2001]

219.608

FRA Administrator's determination of random alcohol testing rate.

(a) Except as provided in paragraphs (b) through (d) of this section, the minimum annual
percentage rate for random alcohol testing must be 25 percent of covered employees.

() --

(1) When the minimum annual percentage rate for random alcohol testing is 25 percent or more,
the Administrator may lower this rate to 10 percent of all covered employees if the Administrator
determines that the data received under the reporting requirements of § 219.801 for two
consecutive calendar years indicate that the violation rate is less than 0.5 percent.

(2) When the minimum annual percentage rate for random alcohol testing is 50 percent, the
Administrator may lower this rate to 25 percent of all covered employees if the Administrator
determines that the data received under the reporting requirements of § 219.801 for two
consecutive calendar years indicate that the violation rate is less than 1.0 percent but equal to or
greater than 0.5 percent.

(d) --

(1) When the minimum annual percentage rate for random alcohol testing is 10 percent, and the
data received under the reporting requirements of § 219.801 for that calendar year indicate that
the violation rate is equal to or greater than 0.5 percent, but less than 1.0 percent, the
Administrator will increase the minimum annual percentage rate for random alcohol testing to 25
percent of all covered employees.

(2) When the minimum annual percentage rate for random alcohol testing is 25 percent or less,
and the data received under the reporting requirements of § 219.801 for any calendar year
indicate that the violation rate is equal to or greater than 1.0 percent, the Administrator will
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increase the minimum annual percentage rate for random alcohol testing to 50 percent of all
covered employees.

(e) The railroad must randomly select and test a sufficient number of covered employees for
testing during each calendar year to equal an annual rate not less than the minimum annual
percentage rate for random alcohol testing determined by the Administrator. If the railroad
conducts random alcohol testing through a consortium, the number of employees to be tested
may be calculated for each individual employer or may be based on the total number of covered
employees covered by the consortium who are subject to random testing at the same minimum
annual percentage rate under this part or any DOT agency alcohol testing rule.

(f) If a railroad is required to conduct random alcohol testing under the alcohol testing rules of
more than one DOT agency, the railroad may -

(1) Establish separate pools for random selection, with each pool containing the covered
employees who are subject to testing at the same required rate; or

(2) Randomly select such employees for testing at the highest percentage rate established for the
calendar year by any DOT agency to which the railroad is subject.

[59 FR 7464, Feb. 15, 1994; 66 FR 41969, August 09, 2001]
219.609

Participation in alcohol testing.

[59 FR 7464, Feb. 15, 1994; 66 FR 41969, August 09, 2001]

219.611

Test result indicating prohibited alcohol concentration; procedures.
Procedures for administrative handling by the railroad in the event an employee's confirmation
test indicates an alcohol concentration of .04 or greater are set forth in § 219.104.

[59 FR 7464, Feb. 15, 1994; 66 FR 41969, August 09, 2001]
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Part 219 Subpart J
Recordkeeping Requirements

219.901 Retention of alcohol testing records.
219.903 Retention of drug testing records.
219.905 Access to facilities and records.

Source: 59 FR 7466, Feb. 15, 1994, unless otherwise noted.
219.901

Retention of alcohol testing records.

(b) Each railroad must maintain the following records for a minimum of five years:
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